IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 99-67

JOHN B. VINING

Appellant

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT FOR ORANGE COUNTY,
STATE OF FLORIDA

APPELLANT'S CORRECTED INITIAL BRIEF

TERRI L. BACKHUS
Florida Bar No. 0946427
Backhus & Izakowitz, P.A.
Post Office Box 3294
303 South Westland Ave.
Tampa, FL 33601-3294

COUNSEL FOR MR. VINING

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This proceeding involves the appeal of the circuit court's denial of Mr. Vining's motion for postconviction relief after a limited evidentiary hearing. The motion was brought pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850. The type size and style in this brief is 12 pt. New Courier.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Circuit Court of the Ninth Judicial Circuit in Orange County, Florida entered the judgments of convictions and sentences under consideration. Mr. Vining was charged by Indictment on Case No. CR89-2395 with first-degree murder and armed robbery on June 5, 1989 (R.2196-97). Mr. Vining was represented by Orange County Public Defenders, Patricia Cashman and Kelly Sims.

On July 6, 1989, the Clerk of Court for the Ninth Judicial Circuit filed Mr. Vining's Request for Disposition of Indictment under the Interstate Agreement on Detainers (R. 1689, 2200-04). On January 4, 1990, Mr. Vining filed a Motion to Discharge Based on Interstate Agreement on Detainers because the State of Florida failed to bring him to trial within 180 days of his Request for Disposition of Detainers and/or within 120 days of the date Mr. Vining arrived in Florida (R. 2328-30). The State sought an extension of time in which to try Mr. Vining (R. 2333, 2341). The Court denied Mr. Vining's Motion to Discharge on January 16, 1990 (R. 1661-1721, 2343-46), and granted the State's Motion for Extension of Time in which to try Mr. Vining on January 22, 1990 (R. 20). That same day, voir dire began.

Trial started on January 22, 1990. Judge Joseph P. Baker presided over the trial. This was his first and only death penalty case (PC-R. 123).

On February 1, 1990, a jury convicted Mr. Vining of both counts (R. 1653). The penalty phase took place a month later on

March 7-8, 1990. The jury recommended death by a vote of eleven to one. By special verdicts, the jury found that the crime was committed while Mr. Vining was under a sentence of imprisonment; that Mr. Vining had previously been convicted of a violent felony; that the crime was committed while Mr. Vining was engaged in a robbery; and that the murder was cold, calculated and premeditated (R. 2613-14). The court sentenced Mr. Vining to death on April 9, 1990 (R. 2188-91, 2630-37).

A timely appeal was taken to this Court. This Court deliberated almost three (3) years before issuing its opinion affirming Mr. Vining's convictions and sentence of death. Vining v. State, 637 So. 2d 921 (Fla. 1994). This Court struck the cold, calculated and premeditated aggravating factor. Mr. Vining filed a petition for certiorari in the United States Supreme Court, which was denied. Vining v. Florida, 115 S. Ct. 589 (1994).

Pursuant to Rule 3.851, Mr. Vining's Motion for Postconviction Relief was due one year from the denial of his writ of certiorari, or on November 28, 1995. This Court granted an extension of time for the filing of Mr. Vining's postconviction motion up to and including March 26, 1996. Mr. Vining filed a motion for postconviction relief on March 26, 1996 (PC-R. 715-736). An amended motion for postconviction relief was filed on December 23, 1996 (PC-R. 1598-1715). Judge Theotis Bronson presided over the postconviction proceedings after Judge Baker disqualified himself (PC-R. 812-22).

Mr. Vining filed a Motion to Strike State's Response and to Deny State's Motion as Timely Filed when the State's Answer was filed out of time. The State's Answer was stricken on June 25, 1997, but the hearing court allowed the State to participate in oral arguments (PC-R. 1962-63).

A Huff hearing was held on June 20, 1997 (PC-R. 1-130). The hearing court determined that an evidentiary hearing was necessary, but only on one full claim and a portion of two others. Judge Bronson granted a hearing on Claim VI - Brady v. Maryland claim; and portions of Claim IX and X only as to allegations of counsel's failure to object to the trial judge's consideration of extra-record material not presented in open court; and the trial judge's independent investigation (PC-R.1970-71). The remainder of Mr. Vining's claims were summarily denied.

An evidentiary hearing was held on April 21-22, 1999 (PC-R. 170-506). Mr. Vining's postconviction motion was denied on November 2, 1999 (PC-R. 2481-2509). Notice of Appeal was filed on November 29, 1999 (PC-R. 2513). This appeal is timely made.

Statement of Facts

On December 8, 1987, surveyors discovered the partially decomposed body of a woman lying fully-clothed in a remote grassy area in Apopka, Florida (R. 933-34). It was determined through dental records that the body was that of Georgia Caruso, owner of a fingernail salon. As a side business, Ms. Caruso sold

wholesale diamonds out of her salon (R. 908-917). Caruso had been shot two times in the head (R. 973-75). The medical examiner testified that unconsciousness occurred immediately and she did not regain consciousness prior to her death (R. 992). There were no other injuries.

The medical examiner testified that the death may have occurred sometime in the three weeks before her body was discovered. There were no signs of a struggle (R. 970-72, 993-94). Caruso's jewelry, purse and shoes were not found (R. 967).

Joann Ward worked for Caruso as a nail technician at Nail Expressions. Ward testified that Caruso sold jewelry on consignment by advertising in the newspaper (R. 999-1004). Ward testified that a man came to the shop on November 13, 1987 in response to the ad and talked to Caruso for fifteen minutes about jewelry (R. 1009-14). The man returned to the nail shop a few days later on November 16, 1987 and again met with Caruso for fifteen minutes. This time, Caruso introduced the man as "George Williams, a man interested in jewelry I have to sell." (R. 1014-16). Williams returned to the shop again on November 19, 1987, talked to Caruso for fifteen minutes and left (R. 1016).

When Ward returned after lunch on November 19, 1987, Caruso asked her to accompany her to meet with Mr. Williams because he wanted to purchase some jewelry but first wanted to have it appraised (R. 1019). Ward usually carried a pistol in her purse (R. 1020-23). Williams arrived driving an older black Cadillac. Caruso left her pistol under the front seat of Ward's car before

walking with Williams to the Winter Park Gem Lab. Ward did not accompany them to the appraisers (R. 1026-32).

Ellen Zaffis and Kevin Donner at the Winter Park Gem Lab had done appraisals for Caruso (R. 1073, 1151). Zaffis talked with Caruso while Donner performed the appraisal of a 6.03 carat, pear-shaped diamond mounted in a ring, and a round 3.5 carat diamond also mounted. Both were appraised at \$60,000 (R. 1077-80,1155-56).

After the appraisal, Caruso and Williams returned to Ward's car. Caruso then told Ward that Williams had decided to buy the stones and that they were going to the bank to put the money in a safe deposit box (R. 1027-31). Ward returned to the nail salon alone (R. 1033-34). Caruso was wearing a two-piece black dress, black shoes, black earrings, a gold Rolex watch, an anniversary ring, a solitaire engagement ring, and the six carat pear-shaped diamond ring. She carried a black purse (R. 1018; 1074-75). She was not seen or heard from again.

During the investigation of the case, the police had no clues as to who committed the crime. The police obtained written statements from four witnesses, Ward, Donner, Zaffis and Denise Vietti. Not being satisfied with their vague descriptions of Williams, the police decided to hypnotize the witnesses (R. 1738). Lt. Watson, a police officer, testified that he hypnotized only Vietti and the rest of the witnesses were only given a "relax and recall" session (R. 1731-33, 1739-40).

At a hearing on a Motion to Exclude Hypnotically-Tainted Evidence, Lt. Watson testified that the difference between hypnotizing a witness and relax and recall was "the intent, as far as I'm concerned, and what I am trying to do with the person." (R. 1732-34). He said he used a Chevault's pendulum to bring his subjects under on all witnesses except Zaffis.

Kevin Donner stated that he had been hypnotized, but realized after discussing the subject with his therapist that he had not (R. 1124-25). Ellen Zaffis, Donner's roommate and business partner, testified that she gave an initial statement to police but approximately a month later, after being subjected to a "relax and recall" session with Lt. Watson, said she was able to assist with a composite sketch (R. 1769).

Denise Vietta did not testify, either at the trial or at the hearing on the Motion to Exclude because she had been "hypnotized." Joann Ward testified that she gave a taped statement before the hypnosis session and denied being hypnotized (R. 1741-45). Judge Baker denied the Motion to Exclude Hypnotically-Tainted Evidence finding that the witnesses had not been hypnotized based on Stokes v. State, 548 So. 2d 188 (Fla. 1989). (R. 1780-83). Judge Baker explained that his perception of what constitutes hypnosis was tempered by his own research into psychiatry, including self-hypnosis, which was the subject of an article he was preparing for publication (R. 135-41).

Trial counsel objected to the presentation of these witnesses at trial, but failed to cross-examine the witnesses on

the fact that they had been hypnotized to enhance their recall (R. 1083-85). The jury never knew the witnesses identifying Mr. Vining in court, two years after the crime was committed, had been "relaxed and recalled" or "hypnotized."

The police did not begin investigating Mr. Vining in connection with this case until two years after the crime was committed. They found Mr. Vining in prison in Georgia an unrelated crime, but they learned that Georgia had an inmate who used an inhaler for an asthma condition. The police put together a photopak including Mr. Vining's picture in the line-up and showed it to their hypnosis/relaxation enhanced witnesses. With varying degrees of certainty, Zaffis and Ward selected Mr. Vining's picture. In court, Donner, Zaffis and Ward each identified Mr. Vining unequivocally. (R. 1039-46, 1066-71, 1086-90, 1100-02, 1156-57).

The State presented phone records purporting to show that the number Ms. Caruso had in her personal notebook for George Williams was one digit off from the phone number of Vining's son's house (R. 1036-38, 1062-65).

The State presented the testimony of Joe Taylor, another amateur diamond seller, who stated that he had received a phone call from a man named "Billy Byrd" who wanted to buy diamonds. Mr. Byrd described as 5'8" tall with gray hair, 56 or 57 years old with glasses (R. 1178). Taylor was suspicious when the man refused to give a return phone number and wanted to look at all the jewelry he had (R. 1179). Taylor did not meet the man

because he thought he was being "set up." (R. 1172-73, 1180-82).

The State also presented testimony that Mr. Vining had been driving his mother's 1978 Cadillac in November 1987. The car was found burned in a rock pit in Marion County in December, 1987 (R. 1344, 1350).

The State also presented a convoluted and tortured story about a common yellow 1.13 carat diamond that was sold by Mr. Vining on November 19, 1987 for approximately \$600.00 (R. 1222-27). The diamond was recut to eliminate a large flaw and sold as a ring to Michael Merola (R. 1230). Detective Nazarchuk retrieved the diamond from the Merolas and showed the diamond to John and Elizabeth Slade, the owners of Columbia Jewelers. Two years later and without the benefit of mapping the diamond, they identified the diamond as being one they consigned to Mark Ryan on November 17, 1987 (R. 1193, 1196-99, 1212-15). The Slades remember the diamond because it was a "rare, green diamond with an identifying feature inside the top of the stone." (R. 1193-95, 1204-05, 1208-15).

Ryan testified that he obtained the 1.13 carat diamond from the Slades and gave it to Caruso on November 17, 1987 for her to sell (R. 1218-19). No expert testimony was offered to distinguish between the common yellow diamond sold by Mr. Vining for \$600 and the extremely valuable green-tinged diamond consigned to Mark Ryan, which had a much higher value than the diamond sold by Mr. Vining. This diamond was not among the ones examined by Zaffis and Donner when Ms. Caruso came in the Winter

Park Gem Lab with George Williams. This circumstantial evidence was the only evidence that was used to sentence Mr. Vining to death.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. The State withheld material exculpatory evidence that would have provided significant impeachment evidence to rebut the State's case. Undisclosed police notes show that the victim carried no loose stones. This rebutted the state's theory that the diamond sold by Mr. Vining was the motive diamond. Police notes also show that the descriptions of the suspect seen with Georgia Caruso changed several times depending on whether the statements were taken before or after the "relax and recall" sessions by the Sheriff's Department hypnotist. Ms. Ward saw detectives eight times before making an identification and then only after a "relax and recall" session. The State argued in closing that defendant's car was burned to hide evidence. But, the State withheld the FBI report that proved that no hair or fiber from the victim existed in the car. The State withheld the exculpatory FBI report that showed the fibers did not match the car. Both defense attorneys testified this information was exculpatory and material and would have been valuable to its case. This testimony was unrebutted by the State. Relief was proper.

2. Mr. Vining was denied his right to a fair and

impartial tribunal during his capital guilt and penalty phases. Defense counsel's unreasonable failure to object to the trial judge's consideration of extra-record information and seek recusal was ineffective assistance of counsel under Gardner v. Florida, 430 U.S. 349 (1977), and Porter v. State, 400 So.2d 5 (Fla. 1987). The trial court abused its discretion when it failed to grant a new trial.

3. The hearing court erred in summarily denying the ineffective assistance of counsel at guilt phase claim as procedurally barred despite sharing some of the same facts regarding Judge Baker's consideration of extra-record information that a hearing was granted on. The court also erred in denying postconviction counsel access to a public record, State's exhibit 16, to map the motive diamond. Had he been granted access and a hearing on this claim, Mr. Vining would have presented expert testimony that the diamond that is State's exhibit 16 could not have been the same diamond consigned to the victim prior to her death. The files and records do not conclusively show that Mr. Vining was not entitled to relief. The hearing court failed to attach any portions of the records that show why Mr. Vining is not entitled to a hearing.

4. Mr. Vining was denied an adversarial testing during the penalty phase of his capital trial. The hearing court erred in failing to grant an evidentiary hearing on this entire claim

because the files and records do not conclusively establish that Mr. Vining is entitled to no relief.

5. The hearing court erred in summarily denying Mr. Vining's claims of ineffective assistance of counsel for trial counsel's failure to object to constitutional error.

6. Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851 is unconstitutional on its face and as applied to the facts of Mr. Vining's case.

7. Florida's death penalty statute is unconstitutional.

8. Mr. Vining is innocent of the death penalty.

9. Florida rules that prohibit juror interviews is unconstitutional and unfair.

10. Mr. Vining was denied a full direct appeal review because the appellate record in his case was incomplete.

11. Mr. Vining's absence during critical stages of the proceedings was constitutional error and counsel was ineffective for failing to ensure his presence.

12. Prosecutorial misconduct rendered Mr. Vining's trial fundamentally unfair and introduced improper collateral crimes into the jury's consideration.

13. Mr. Vining was denied access to public records that other defendants similarly situated have been provided.

14. The hearing court erred in analyzing each claim separately instead of considering the cumulative effect that all of these errors had on Mr. Vining's jury.

ARGUMENT I

THE HEARING COURT FAILED TO PROPERLY CONSIDER EVIDENCE THAT PROVES MR. VINING'S INNOCENCE SUCH AS MATERIAL AND EXCULPATORY EVIDENCE WITHHELD BY THE STATE.

The State withheld key exculpatory materials from the defense. This was proven at the evidentiary hearing. Police notes not provided to the defense show that nail technician, Joanne Ward told the police that the victim did not have any "loose stones" with her on November 18, 1987. This was contrary to the testimony of Mark Ryan and Kevin Donner. This evidence eliminated the alleged motive for the crime. The State argued that Mr. Vining robbed Ms. Caruso of a loose 1.13 carat green-tinged diamond. Yet, defense counsel had nothing to rebut this allegation. This was important exculpatory impeachment evidence.

Police notes also not disclosed to the defense provide impeachment evidence against Joann Ward. According to Detective Nazarchuk's notes, Joann Ward's version of the time of day that the victim disappeared was inconsistent with all other versions of the day's events that were given to police. This inconsistency would have been used by trial counsel to question the accuracy and memory of Ms. Ward on the day the victim disappeared.

Police notes not disclosed to the defense proved Mr. Donner was not paying attention to the victim and George Williams because he was appraising the diamonds. These notes show that Donner's identification of Mr. Vining as a suspect was

impeachable because of his inattention and his brief encounter with "George Williams." Defense counsel could have used these notes to impeach Donner's testimony that it was a "very memorable conversation."

Mr. Vining also was not provided with police notes from December 17, 1987 regarding witnesses Joann Ward, Ellen Zaffis and Kevin Donner concerning their descriptions of the man seen with Ms. Caruso. These notes impeached the consistency of the identifications of Mr. Vining by Zaffis, Ward and Donner before and after their hypnosis sessions with police.

The State also withheld an FBI analysis of a car fiber found on the victim's blouse. This analysis showed the fiber did not match any hair or fiber relating to Mr. Vining. The FBI report was never disclosed to the defense. A complete copy of the victim's notebook in which she recorded her jewelry sales and contacts also was never provided to the defense until it was entered into evidence by the State at trial. No police notes were disclosed from an interview between Mr. Donner and Captain Hunter of the Winter Park Police Department, even though Detectives Nazarchuk and Gay testified that they had "everything" from the Winter Park Police Department. These notes which Donner referred to in his deposition were never turned over to the defense.

The "withheld" evidence was "material" to motive and

identification, and should have been provided to defense counsel. These Brady violations have been proven. The only issue is the extent of the prejudice suffered by Mr. Vining.

The hearing court agreed that the Brady material had been withheld by the State, but the court held was not material and found no prejudice to Mr. Vining's case (PC-R. 2488). The hearing court is wrong.

The hearing court used the wrong analysis and failed to consider the impact of this withheld information on the jury. The jury never heard information that was obviously exculpatory to Mr. Vining. At the evidentiary hearing, Mr. Vining proved that the prosecutors failed to disclose exculpatory evidence that was material and could have been used to impeach the key state's witnesses who testified about the motive diamond and the description and identifications of Mr. Vining.

The testimony of Ward, Zaffis, and Donner, was critical to the state's case. Had their testimony and identifications not been so critical, the State would not have gone to such lengths to hypnotize/relax the witnesses to get more incriminating information.

These witnesses testified that they saw Mr. Vining with the victim on the day she disappeared (R. 1044, 1087, 1156). Each witness testified at trial that he had seen and identified photos of Mr. Vining before trial. What the jury did not know was that

each witness had been hypnotized or was placed under "relax and recall," a form of hypnosis. After the hypnosis sessions, the witnesses worked with a sketch artist to construct a composite sketch of the man they believed was with the victim on the day she disappeared.¹

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