# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOHN B. VINING,

Appellant,

vs. CASE NO. SC99-67

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

# ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. LANDRY
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar I.D. No. 0134101
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607
(813)873-4739
Fax: (813) 356-1292

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

The lower court correctly denied relief on this claim at Claim XIV (PCR Vol. XVII, R2309) on the basis that CCR had announced at

the <u>Huff</u> hearing that it could not proceed on the claim (PCR Vol. I, pp. 101-102). The claim has been abandoned below. Cf. <u>Robinson v. State</u>, 707 So.2d 688, 700 (Fla. 1998) (subclaim regarding alleged susceptibility to police pressure and low IQ procedurally barred since issue was not raised below).

## F. <u>Under Sentence of Imprisonment Aggravator</u>

The lower court correctly determined relief was unavailable on this point at Claim XVI, below (PCR Vol. XVII, R2504). It is both procedurally barred and meritless:

...Defendant alleges that his jury was improperly instructed on the "under sentence imprisonment aggravator." Further, Defendant notes that although defense counsel argued in closing that this factor should not be accorded great weight because Defendant was on parole (R. 2160), defense counsel was ineffective for failing to request constitutionally adequate limiting instructions or object to the inadequate instruction.

Initially, the Court finds that this issue should have been raised on direct appeal and is procedurally barred. See Hardwick v. Dugger, 648 So.2d 100 (Fla. 1994); Jackson v. Dugger, 633 So.2d 1051 (Fla. 1993). Further, Defendant is not allowed to bypass the procedural bar by simply couching the claim in terms of ineffective assistance of counsel. See Bryan v. Dugger, 641 So.2d 61, 63 (Fla. Nonetheless, the jury instruction 1994). given by the trial judge is the standard instruction still in use today. Counsel could not have been ineffective for failing to object to a proper jury instruction. Mendyk v. State, 592 So.2d 1076, 1080 (Fla. 1992) ("When jury instructions are proper, the failure to object does not constitute a serious and substantial deficiency that is measurably below the standard of competent counsel"), overruled on other grounds, Hoffman v. State, 613 So.2d 405 (Fla. 1992). Hence, this claim is without merit.

Appellant is simply wrong in suggesting that the Constitution requires an instruction to the jury as to how much weight they should give an aggravator. See <u>Tuilaepa v. California</u>, 512 U.S. 967, 979, 129 L.Ed.2d 750, 764 (1994) (A capital sentencer need not be instructed how to weigh any particular fact in the capital sentencing decision).

#### CLAIM VI

## **RULE 3.851**

Appellant's challenge to the one year deadline of Rule 3.851 was properly rejected below; it was unrelated to Vining's judgment and sentence. Additionally, as noted by the lower court, appellant has had more than two years to file his motion given the numerous extensions by this Court and the circuit court. Claim II, below, Vol. XVII, R2482-83. Similar claims have been rejected in the past. M. Johnson v. State, 536 So.2d 1009 (Fla. 1988); Remeta v. Dugger, 622 So.2d 452, 456 (Fla. 1993); Roberts v. State, 568 So.2d 1255 (Fla. 1990).

#### CLAIM VII

#### DEATH PENALTY UNCONSTITUTIONAL

It remains unclear precisely what appellant's complaint is. In claim XX, below (at Vol. XVII, R2506-07) the lower court correctly rejected the defense challenge to the constitutionality of the death penalty statute since the claim was raised and rejected on direct appeal and is thus barred now. See <u>Vining v. State</u>, 637 So.2d at 927. And such arguments have been rejected many times. <u>Thompson v. State</u>, 619 So.2d 261, 267 (Fla. 1993); <u>Fennie v. State</u>, 648 So.2d 95 (Fla. 1994); <u>Hunter v. State</u>, 660 So.2d 244 (Fla. 1995); <u>Fotopoulos v. State</u>, 608 So.2d 784 (Fla. 1992).

In claim XXV below, the lower court properly rejected a challenge to electrocution as being violative of the cruel and unusual punishment clause both on procedural bar grounds for the failure to assert on direct appeal and on the merits (Vol. XVII, R2508). See Jones v. Butterworth, 691 So.2d 481 (Fla. 1997); Provenzano v. Moore, 744 So.2d 413 (Fla. 1999); Jones v. State, 701 So.2d 76 (Fla. 1997). Appellant did not raise below but suggests now a challenge to lethal injection; such an attempt should be disallowed and deemed barred. See Robinson, supra. Such a claim is also meritless. Provenzano v. State, 761 So.2d 1097 (Fla. 2000); Sims v. State, 754 So.2d 657 (Fla.), cert. denied, 120 S.Ct. 1233 (2000).

Appellant's failure to fully brief his claim should be deemed a bar. Cf. <u>Duest v. Dugger</u>, 555 So.2d 849, 852 (Fla. 1990).

Appellant may  $\underline{\text{not}}$  now assert that he has preserved "any" challenge to the death penalty.

#### CLAIM VIII

#### INNOCENCE OF THE DEATH PENALTY

The lower court ruled at Claim VIII, Vol. XVII, R2494:

Finally, Defendant alleges that in light of the foregoing, he is ineligible for death because his death sentence is disproportionate where there are three valid aggravating circumstances and one mitigating circumstance. Again, this claim should have been raised on direct appeal. Additionally, the Florida Supreme Court has rejected this argument, upholding death sentences where there were two valid aggravators, no statutory mitigators, and weak nonstatutory mitigation. Consalvo v. State, 697 So.2d 805 (Fla. 1996); Melton v. State, 638 So.2d 927 (Fla.), cert. denied, 513 U.S. 971 (1994); Bowden v. State, 588 So.2d 225 (Fla. 1991), cert. denied, 503 U.S. 975 (1992).

Appellant is not entitled to relief under <u>Sawyer v. Whitley</u>, 505 U.S. 333, 348, 120 L.Ed.2d 269, 285 (1992) (claim of innocence of death must be rejected in a successive habeas petition unless petitioner has shown by clear and convincing evidence that but for constitutional error no reasonable juror would find him eligible for the death penalty). On direct appeal, after rejecting the CCP aggravator, this Court approved the findings on homicide during a robbery, by a person under sentence of imprisonment, and prior conviction of a felony involving the use of violence. 637 So.2d at 928. Thus, appellant is <u>not</u> ineligible for death. <sup>15</sup> See <u>In re</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>Vining is not aided by the state cases cited. <u>Johnson v.</u> <u>Singletary</u>, 612 So.2d 575 (Fla. 1993) does not support the claim asserted. <u>Jones v. State</u>, 591 So.2d 911 (Fla. 1991) held defendant

Medina, 109 F.3d 1556, 1566 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1997) (to prevail on innocent of death claim, applicant must show constitutional error invalidating <u>all</u> of the aggravating circumstances); <u>In re</u> <u>Provenzano</u>, 215 F.3d 1233 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2000). The claim is also barred for not having been asserted on direct appeal.

was entitled to a hearing on newly discovered evidence which could have led to an acquittal. <u>Scott v. Dugger</u>, 604 So.2d 465 (Fla. 1992) turned on the discovery that an equally culpable co-defendant subsequently received a life sentence. The <u>Sawyer</u> principle was not implicated.

#### CLAIM IX

#### JUROR INTERVIEWS PROHIBITED

The lower court disposed of appellant's challenge to Rule 4-3.5(d)(4) of the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar at pages 19 and 20 of its order under Claim XII (Vol. XVII, R2499-2500).

The lower court noted that appellant did not allege any particular reason to believe that any particular juror was incompetent or otherwise unqualified to serve, and that a juror is precluded from impeaching his own verdict.

Appellee adds the following supportive argument.

This claim is procedurally barred for the failure to raise on direct appeal. See <a href="Ragsdale v. State">Ragsdale v. State</a>, 720 So.2d 203, 205, n. 1 & 2 (Fla. 1998); <a href="Thompson v. State">Thompson v. State</a>, 25 Fla. L. Weekly S346 at 352 n. 12 (Fla. 2000); <a href="Gaskin v. State">Gaskin v. State</a>, 737 So.2d 509, 530, n. 6 (Fla. 1999). See also <a href="P.A. Brown v. State">P.A. Brown v. State</a>, 755 So.2d 616, 620-621, n. 1,4,5,7, (Fla. 2000); <a href="L. Mann v. State">L. Mann v. State</a>, So.2d <a href="Gaskin v. State">So.2d</a>, 25 Fla. L. Weekly S727 (Fla. 2000); <a href="Mann v. State">M. Rose v. State</a>, So.2d <a href="Gaskin v. State">So.2d</a>, 25 Fla. L. Weekly S824 (Fla. 2000); <a href="Young v. State">Young v. State</a>, 739 So. 2d 553, 555, n. 5 (Fla. 1999).

Additionally, this claim does not constitute a collateral attack on the conviction or sentence and thus is not cognizable under Rule 3.850. See e.g. <u>Foster v. State</u>, 400 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1981).

Finally, Florida Rule of Professional Conduct 4-3.5(d)(4) is

a valid rule because it serves vital governmental interests in protecting the finality of a verdict, preserving juror privacy, and promoting full and free debate during the deliberation process. <u>See Tanner v. United States</u>, 483 U.S. 107, 127, 97 L.Ed.2d 90, 110 (1986); <u>United States v. Hooshmand</u>, 931 F.2d 725, 736-737 (11th Cir. 1991); <u>United States v. Griek</u>, 920 F.2d 840, 842-844 (11th Cir. 1991); See also Cave v. State, 476 So.2d 180, 187 (Fla. 1985) ("This respect for jury deliberations is particularly appropriate where, as here, we are dealing with an advisory sentence which does not require a unanimous vote for a recommendation of death or a majority vote for a recommendation of life imprisonment. examine the thought process of the individual members of a jury divided 7-5 on its recommendation would be a fruitless quagmire which would transfer the acknowledged differences of opinion among the individual jurors into open court. These differences do not have to be reconciled; they only have to be recorded in a vote."); Songer v. State, 463 So.2d 229, 231 (Fla. 1985) (F.S. 90.607[2][b] does not authorize a juror to testify as to any matter which inheres in the verdict); Johnson v. State, 593 So. 2d 206, 210 (Fla. 1992). ("[T] his Court cautions against permitting jury interviews to support post-conviction relief for allegations such as those made in this case.")

#### CLAIM X

#### UNRELIABLE APPELLATE TRANSCRIPTS

The lower court correctly denied relief on appellant's claim that portions of the proceedings were off the record during voir dire (R5, 32-33, 59), trial (R1221, 1330) and that portions of penalty phase were not transcribed or were conducted off the record (R2186-92)<sup>16</sup> since such a claim is procedurally barred for the failure to urge on direct appeal. See Claim XI below at Vol. XVII, PCR2499. See, e.g. <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 593 So.2d 206 (Fla. 1992); Thompson v. State, 759 So.2d 650, 660 (Fla. 2000); <u>Huff v. State</u>, 762 So.2d 476, 478-79, n. 2 (Fla. 2000).

Moreover, appellant has failed to demonstrate how the allegedly-defective transcript prejudiced his direct appeal. See <a href="Velez v. State">Velez v. State</a>, 645 So.2d 42 (Fla. 4 DCA 1994); White v. Florida <a href="Department of Corrections">Department of Corrections</a>, 939 F.2d 912 (11th Cir. 1991).

 $<sup>^{16}</sup>$ Appellee cannot discern anything missing at the sentencing proceeding (R2187-92).

#### CLAIM XI

#### ABSENCE DURING COURT PROCEEDINGS

Appellant next argues that he was absent during critical stages of the proceedings and that defense counsel failed to object. Vining cites the direct appeal record where motions were filed to suppress hypnotically-tainted evidence (R2279-91), in limine regarding Williams-Rule evidence (R2292-93), to discharge based on Interstate Agreement on Detainers (R2328-30), and to prohibit in-court identification by witnesses whose memory had been hypnotically refreshed (R2294-95). He claims also that he was absent when during jury deliberation the jury submitted a question to the court (R1652).

Vining also alleges that he was not present at a number of <a href="mailto:side-bar">side-bar</a> conferences (R2045, R1939-40, 1944-45, 1950-53, 1958-60, 1970-74, 1985-88, 1988-90, 1995-97, 2006-08, 2121-22, 2124-25, 2131-32, 2138-41, 2147-48, 2153-54, 2175-76) 17. Appellant maintains that this was serious error and that counsel was deficient in failing to object to such alleged absences.

Appellee would answer that the lower court correctly rejected the claim and denied relief. See Claim XIII, PCR Vol. XVII, R2500-2503. Rutherford v. Moore, \_\_\_ So.2d \_\_\_, 25 Fla. L. Weekly S891 (Fla. 2000).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup>The record does not reflect affirmatively that Vining was absent during the court proceedings; rather, it is merely silent as to whether he was present.

Appellee initially asks this Court to once again enforce its procedural default policy as this claim was not raised at trial nor urged on appeal and it could have been. Should the Court fail to enforce its procedural default policy the risk appears that a federal court on habeas review may determine that the state courts are not consistent but rather arbitrary in the enforcement of its rules and decline to afford them any respect. In any event if this Court reaches the merits of a federal claim - without also applying its valid procedural bars - the federal courts can and must address the merits and may feel free to second-guess this Court's determination. See Harris v. Reed, 489 U.S. 255, 103 L.Ed.2d 308 (1989).

In <u>Gudinas v. State</u>, 693 So.2d 953, 961 (Fla. 1997) this Court explained:

did [3,4] Gudinas not raise contemporaneous objection to his exclusion from the in-chambers discussion between the attorneys and the trial judge. Therefore, we agree with the State that this issue is procedurally barred. Davis v. State, 461 So.2d 67, 71 (Fla. 1984) (stating that "[i]n the absence of fundamental error the failure to object precludes consideration of this point on appeal"), cert. denied, 473 U.S. 913, 105 S.Ct. 3540, 87 L.Ed.2d 663 (1985). However, Gudinas appears to be claiming fundamental error, citing Francis v. State, 413 So.2d 1175, 1177 (Fla. 1982), for the proposition a defendant "constitutional right to be present at the stages of his trial where fundamental fairness by his might be thwarted absence." Fundamental error is "error which reaches down into the validity of the trial itself to the

extent that a verdict of guilty could not have been obtained without the assistance of the alleged error." Archer v. State, 673 So.2d 17, 20 (Fla. 1996) (quoting State v. Delva, 575 So.2d 643, 644-45 (Fla. 1991)), cert. denied, U.S. \_\_\_\_, 117 S.Ct. 197, 136 L.Ed.2d 134 (1996).

\* \* \*

Therefore, in summary, we agree with the State that, first, the issue is procedurally barred, and, second, even if it was preserved and there was error, it would be harmless because Gudinas' absence did not frustrate the fairness of the proceeding and his presence would not have assisted the defense in any way. See Garcia v. State, 492 So.2d 360 (Fla. 1986).

(Id. at 962)

See also <u>Cole v. State</u>, 701 So.2d 845 (Fla. 1997) (failure to contemporaneously object at trial bars appellate claim that lower court erred in holding bench conferences in hallway without defendant's presence).

The lower court correctly determined that Vining's absence from pre-trial and pre-penalty phase proceeding (if he was absent) do not constitute fundamental error and appellant could not have made a meaningful contribution to counsel's legal arguments. See Roberts v. State, 510 So.2d 885 (Fla. 1987). Moreover, these proceedings were not critical stages of the trial. Fla. Rule Cr.P. 3.180(a); Provenzano v. Dugger, 561 So.2d 541, 548 (Fla. 1990); Garcia v. State, 492 So.2d 360 (Fla. 1986); Rutherford v. Moore, So.2d \_\_\_, 25 Fla. L. Weekly S891 (Fla. 2000)..

With regard to the bench conferences during voir dire and the

guilt and penalty phases, any claim of fundamental error and counsel ineffectiveness is meritless. See <a href="Hardwick v. Dugger">Hardwick v. Dugger</a>, 648 So.2d 100, 105 (Fla. 1994); <a href="Cole v. State">Cole v. State</a>, supra at 850 (defendant does not have a constitutional right to be present at bench conferences involving purely legal matters). Appellant cannot benefit from <a href="Coney v. State">Coney v. State</a>, 653 So.2d 1009 (Fla. 1995) since it was not retroactively applicable to Vining's case. See <a href="Boyett v. State">Boyett v. State</a>, 688 So.2d 308 (Fla. 1996).

The appellant's complaint that he may have been absent when the jury asked a question during deliberations is harmless error if error at all. The record shows that the jury presented a question (R2505) (regarding whether a guilty verdict includes an advisory verdict in the present deliberation) to which both the defense counsel and the court and prosecutor all agreed was that the answer was no (R1652-53). See Meek v. State, 487 So.2d 1058 (Fla. 1986) (any error in defendant's absence during court's answer to legal question presented by jury would have been harmless when trial court's instructions were a correct statement of the law to which defense counsel agreed.) Roberts v. State, 510 So.2d 885 (Fla. 1987); Morgan v. State, 492 So.2d 1072 (Fla. 1986).

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